1995

Gina Cook v. Zions First National Bank : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

By Order of the Utah Supreme Court, this case was poured-over to the Utah Court of Appeals on November 6, 1995. This Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3) (Supp. 1995) and Utah R. App. P. 3.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Whether the trial court erred in finding no genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of an express or an implied compensation contract between Gina Cook ("Mrs. Cook") and her employer Zions First National Bank ("Zions") when Mrs. Cook was employed in consideration for certain compensation which included the ability and flexibility to take earned leave for needed medical care.

This issue was preserved in the trial court. See, *inter alia*, Record ("R"). at 251-52; 304-05; 308; 332-33; 334; 437-39; 474-81; 510; 515-16; 524-25. The standard of review for summary judgment is Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Summary judgments are reviewed for correctness. Palmer v. Hayes, 892 P.2d 1059, 1061 (Utah App. 1995).¹

II. Whether the covenant of good faith and fair dealing exists within the confines of employment compensation contracts, and assuming that it does, whether the trial court erred in finding

¹ See also the section on Applicable Law, *infra*.

no genuine issue of material fact as to Zions' performance under that implied covenant when Mrs. Cook repeatedly requested the opportunity to use her earned sick leave to determine if the lump on her lip was cancerous, and Zions denied her requests and by its conduct, prevented her from so doing.

This issue was preserved in the trial court. See, *inter alia*, R. at 252-53; 307-11; 324-25; 349-48; 474-81; 521; 524; 527-30; 534-35; 567. The standard of review for summary judgment is Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Summary judgments are reviewed for correctness. Palmer, 892 P.2d at 1061.

III. Whether the trial court erred by resolving factual disputes against Mrs. Cook and by relying on issues neither raised by Zions nor properly considered in a Motion for Summary Judgment.

This issue was preserved in the trial court. See, *inter alia*, R. at 60-86; 302-366; 386-435; 474-81; 493-95; 493-95; 474-81; 544-46. The standard of review for summary judgment is Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Summary judgments are reviewed for correctness. Palmer, 892 P.2d at 1061.²

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION AND DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

None.

² Mrs. Cook is not pursuing her claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This is an action brought by Mrs. Cook as the result of Zions' breach of her employment compensation contract. Mrs. Cook claims that Zions breached her contract, which specifically included the right to paid sick leave, by refusing to allow her time off for medical treatment when she needed and requested it.

II. Course of the Proceedings

The Complaint was filed on September 14, 1994 in the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County. (R. at 2.) Mrs. Cook demanded a jury, and tendered the appropriate fee on September 28, 1994. (R. at 31.) Zions served its Answer on October 11, 1994, (R. at 34), and ten days later, on October 21, 1994, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 60.) In its accompanying memorandum, Zions raised several issues claiming, in pertinent part, that "there is no express employment contract", that "Utah law does not recognize a breach of an implied-in-fact contract outside of the termination context" and that "an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing is not recognized in the employment context under Utah law." (R. at 63-64; 386-87.)

III. Disposition of the Trial Court

Judge David Young accommodated lengthy oral argument on March 10, 1995, (R. at 572-97) and April 21, 1995. (R. at 508-71.) On

June 8, 1995, the trial court ruled against Mrs. Cook in a Memorandum Decision, attached hereto as Addendum "A". (R. at 474.) Final judgment, granting summary judgment against Mrs. Cook and dismissing her action on the merits and with prejudice, was entered on July 14, 1995. (R. at 490.) Notice of Appeal was filed on July 18, 1995. (R. at 496.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. General Background:

1. Mrs. Cook was hired by Zions in May, 1988. (R. at 65; 95; 250.)

2. During her full-time employment at Zions, the terms and conditions of Mrs. Cook's compensation, including sick leave, have not changed, although she has received regular pay increases for merit and promotion. (R. 250-51; 304.)

3. Mrs. Cook has not been terminated by Zions, where she remains employed. (R. at 95; 250-51; 304.)

II. Facts Presented to the Trial Court in Opposition to Zions' Factual Claims That Mrs. Cook Had No Contract Providing for Compensation in Exchange for Her Services to the Bank:

4. In May 1988, prior to her acceptance of Zions' offer of employment, Mrs. Cook met with Joyce Misdom, the manager of the department in which Mrs. Cook was to be employed. During that meeting, Ms. Misdom advised her that after an initial 90-day waiting period, Mrs. Cook would automatically earn credits for

"involuntary leaves of absence from work," which would entitle her to a certain number of paid sick days, depending on whether she worked part or full time. (R. at 437.)

5. While Mrs. Cook was considering Zions' employment offer, another representative of the bank met with Mrs. Cook and again explained the terms of Zions' compensation package which included paid leaves of absences for sick days. During that meeting, Mrs. Cook was again told that she would earn and be entitled to use paid sick leave as part of her compensation. (R. at 437.)

6. Mrs. Cook accepted employment at Zions based on its offer of employment compensation. (R. at 438).

7. Zions' employment offer, as communicated by Ms. Misdom and the other bank representative, was memorialized in a written agreement. (R. at 437-38.) That document, entitled "Employment Benefits Disclosure and Pay Agreement" (hereinafter "Employment Agreement"), is attached hereto as Addendum "B". (R. at 438; 441.)

8. After Mrs. Cook had received an explanation of her compensation from Ms. Misdom and the other bank representative, she and Ms. Misdom signed the Employment Agreement on July 28, 1988. (R. at 438; 441.)

9. The Employment Agreement lists both Mrs. Cook's initial salary and earned benefits, including involuntary paid leaves of

absence³ for which she would become automatically eligible as part of her compensation package. Specifically, with respect to sick leave, the Employment Agreement states:

Involuntary Absences from Work (leave credit 90-day waiting period) -- 1 day per month for full-time employees; 1 day (8 hours) per 2 months for those working at least 20 hours per week.

(R. at 438; 441.)

10. The flexibility of being able to take paid sick leave was a significant part of Mrs. Cook's compensation package, and was an important inducement to her in accepting Zions' employment offer.

(R. at 438-39.)

11. Because Zions' compensation package included paid sick leave, Mrs. Cook was willing to work at an hourly rate lower than the rate she received from her former employer. (R. at 438.)

12. Since accepting its employment offer, Mrs. Cook has continued to rely on Zions' representations to provide paid sick leave, and has for years earned and used the benefit of paid sick leave. (R. at 251-52; 304-06; 308; 439.)

13. It was Mrs. Cook's understanding from Zions' course of dealing, representations and practices, that, as a full-time employee, she would receive paid sick leave in partial

³ Zions' use of the phrase "involuntary leaves of absences" in its Employment Agreement, (R. at 441), is synonymous with the terms "sick leave", "sick days" and "short term leave" in the record. See, *inter alia*, R. at 326; 332-33; 335-37; 344-45; 351-53.

consideration for her service to the bank. (R. at 251-52; 436-37; 439.)

14. Consistent with its practices, Mrs. Cook's Employment Agreement and her understanding of her sick leave benefits, Zions also has a written policy regarding sick leave which is maintained by supervisors and not distributed to employees. (R. at 351-52; 391.)

III. Facts Presented to the Trial Court Based on Zions' Admissions:

15. Zions' employees earn sick leave as part of their compensation. (R. at 332-33.)

16. Employees who take sick leave are paid at their normal hourly or salaried rate, with standard taxes and withholdings deducted from the sick leave compensation. (R. at 326.)

17. Full time employees earn the right to be paid for sick leave and can accumulate eight hours a month for a maximum of 12 days a year. (R. at 325-26; 334-35; 344; 351-53.)

18. Pay stubs given to Mrs. Cook by Zions confirm its policy of providing Mrs. Cook with earned sick leave. (R. at 321.)

19. Zions maintains a schedule of the number of hours to which an employee is entitled for sick leave, based on how long they have worked. (R. at 335; 345; 351.)

20. At the beginning of 1994, Mrs. Cook had earned 249.76 hours of sick leave. (R. at 336.)

21. As an employer, Zions provides sick leave in order to be competitive and to promote the health of its employees. (R. at 325.)

22. Zions' policy and practice is to allow its employees time off to obtain necessary medical attention, diagnosis and treatment before treatable health problems become serious or life threatening. (R. at 471-72.)

23. Zions publishes an official newsletter known as "Newsbreak", which is disseminated regularly to employees. (R. at 323 and 348.)

24. Zions' September 20, 1994 Newsbreak states in pertinent part that "[t]he health and welfare of employees are important to Zions Bancorporation. Zions policies provide employees with adequate time to seek needed medical treatment." (R. at 349.) (Emphasis added.) A copy of the Newsbreak article is attached hereto as Addendum "C".

25. The Newsbreak article is an accurate statement of the bank's position, (R. at 348; 435), and "depicts [Zions' policy] very well." (R. at 411.)

26. Zions' employees are required to notify their departmental supervisors of their need to take sick leave for scheduled medical procedures. (R. at 327.)

27. Zions' employees are also required to obtain approval from their supervisors before they can use sick leave for scheduled medical treatment. (R. at 344; 471-72.)

IV. Facts Presented to the Trial Court Regarding the Material Breach of Mrs. Cook's Compensation Agreement:

28. In a January, 1994 staff meeting, Gaylene Kenney ("Ms. Kenney"), Mrs. Cook's departmental manager, (R. at 306; 330; 389), stated that she did not want anyone to take time off during the next several months because of an increased workload in the department caused by the department's conversion to a new computer system, and Zions' acquisition of another bank. (R. at 252; 309; 355).

29. Because of the demands placed on her as a result of the conversion to the new computer system and the bank acquisition, Mrs. Cook was required to work extensive overtime in the first few months of 1994. (R. at 252; 309.)

30. By the beginning of 1994, a lump had appeared on Mrs. Cook's lip. The lump was obvious and could readily be seen by co-workers. (R. at 308; 340-41; 356-57; 361.)

31. Ms. Kenney also knew of the lump because she could see it on Mrs. Cook's lip. (R. at 308; 340-41.)

32. On January 29, 1994, Mrs. Cook requested one hour off on February 1, 1994 to have the lump on her lip removed. (R. at 252; 309; 362.)

33. Mrs. Kenney approved the request for one hour. (R. at 338-39; 362.)

34. Mrs. Cook went to her doctor's appointment on February 1, 1994. However, at that time, her doctor decided that the procedure would take a full day and would need to be done in a hospital. Therefore, because only a one hour office appointment had been scheduled, Mrs. Cook's doctor did not remove the lump. (R. at 252; 309.)

35. After returning to work, Mrs. Cook approached Ms. Kenney, and requested one day off for the in-hospital surgical procedure to remove the lump on her lower lip as directed by her doctor. (R. at 252; 309.)

36. That request, and several other requests for the necessary time off made during the first week of February, 1994 and in the following months, were denied. (R. at 252; 309-10.)

37. Mrs. Cook did not take a day off without Ms. Kenney's permission because she feared that she would be terminated for violating Zions' policy and Ms. Kenney's directive. (R. at 343.)

38. During February, March and April, 1994, Mrs. Cook continued to make numerous requests to Ms. Kenney to use one day of her earned sick leave for the medical procedure. (R. at 252-53; 309-10.)

39. Ms. Kenney denies that these requests were made. (R. at 341; 390; 433-34; 475; 546.)

40. The surgical procedure was eventually undertaken on May 20, 1994 with Ms. Kenney's approval. (R. at 253.)

41. On May 31, 1994, Mrs. Cook was notified that she had a form of aggressive, malignant melanoma. (R. at 253-54; 310.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In 1988, Mrs. Cook and Zions signed an Employment Agreement in which Zions expressly agreed to compensate her with the earned benefit of sick leave. Based on that agreement and Zions' policies and practices, Mrs. Cook's sick leave accrued at the rate of one day for every month she worked as a full time employee. For several years, Mrs. Cook earned, requested and received her sick leave as part of her compensation. Prior to her denied requests for time off, Zions had not changed or disclaimed either Mrs. Cook's contract or Zions' existing policy and practice of compensating its employees with accrued sick leave for needed medical treatment. This practice continued until the first several months of 1994 when Mrs. Cook's supervisor denied her requests for one day of sick leave to undergo an in-hospital procedure to remove and biopsy a lump on her lip. During those months, Mrs. Cook's supervisor required her to work extensive overtime as the result of an exceptionally heavy work load in Mrs. Cook's department.

As of January 1, 1994 Mrs Cook had 249.76 accrued and unused hours of earned sick leave. Zions, however, requires its employees to obtain approval before taking time off for scheduled medical treatment. Although the sore on Mrs. Cook's lower lip did not heal and continued to worsen in February, March, April and May of 1994, Mrs. Cook's repeated requests for a single day of sick leave were continually denied. Not being able to jeopardize her job and health insurance and *not* knowing whether she had a serious problem, Mrs. Cook continued to work while pressing her supervisor for permission for a day off work for the surgery.

When Zions finally allowed Mrs. Cook time off on May 20, 1994, her physicians found an aggressive form of skin cancer which had metastasized and invaded her lymph nodes. Mrs. Cook's physicians have informed her that her condition is terminal. Zions' refusal to allow Mrs. Cook time off work caused a critical and significant delay in her cancer treatment, resulting in the progression of the cancer and the loss of any opportunity to prevent that progression.

Zions has admitted that the purpose of its policy and practice of allowing employees time off work for medical procedures is to allow them to obtain necessary medical attention before health problems become serious or life threatening. The terms of Mrs. Cook's compensation contract were breached by Zions' refusals to allow her time off when she requested it. Based on Zions' own

statement, that "Zions policies provide employees with adequate time to seek needed medical treatment," (R. at 349), it has also breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing which exists in Utah and operates *within* the parameters of all contracts, including contracts providing for employment compensation.

ARGUMENT

I. Applicable Law under Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Summary judgment is only proper when "there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P 56(c); Republic Group, Inc. v. Won-Door Corp., 883 P.2d 285 (Utah App. 1994). When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be liberally construed in favor of the party opposing the motion. Republic Group, 883 P.2d at 289. The non-movant is required only to demonstrate that there is a material issue of fact, not that its case is more persuasive than the movant's. Lamb v. B&B Amusements, 869 P.2d 926 (Utah 1993). Any doubts as to whether the non-moving party has established an issue of material fact must be resolved in favor of the non-movant. Butterfield v. Okudo, 831 P.2d 97, 107 (Utah 1992). The determination of whether the moving party is entitled to a judgment is a question of law, and given this view of the evidence, is reviewed for correctness. Palmer, 892 P.2d at

1061; Kleinert v. Kimball Elevator Co., 854 P.2d 1025, 1027 (Utah App. 1993). No deference is accorded to the trial court's conclusion that the facts are not in dispute or to the trial court's legal conclusions based on those facts. Kitchen v. Cal Gas Co., 821 P.2d 458 (Utah App. 1991), cert. denied, 879 P.2d 476 (Utah 1994). Summary judgment is generally considered to be a drastic remedy which requires strict compliance with Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Timm v. Dewsnap, 851 P.2d 1178, 1181 (Utah 1983). Accordingly, summary judgment is appropriate only if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

II. The Trial Court Erred in Finding No Genuine Issue of Material Fact as to the Existence of an Express or an Implied Compensation Contract Between Mrs. Cook and Her Employer, Zions.

In its Motion For Summary Judgment, Zions claimed it has no contract with its employee, Mrs. Cook. Zions stated in absolute terms that it "does not enter into any individual employment agreements with its employees and did not do so with respect to plaintiff." (R. at 65.) The trial court, adopting a misdirected employment-at-will analysis, agreed, ruling that

The first cause of action for 'Breach of Express Employment Contract' must be and the same is dismissed because there is no employment contract between the

parties. Utah law presumes that any employment contract with no specified term as to duration is an 'at-will' relationship. Berube v. Fashion Center, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, (Utah 1989). Nothing in evidence can be shown to have changed the initial 'at-will' relationship. Even in cases where an 'at-will' employee has no right of action against its employer for breach of employment contract upon being *discharged*, (Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc., 812 P.2d 49 [Utah 1991]) in this case, since there has been *no discharge*, there exists an even stronger reason to disallow an [sic] suit for Breach of Contract. The Plaintiff remains employed yet wishes to maintain her lawsuit for breach of contract while going to work every day and continuing to receive employee benefits and income.

R. at 478.) (Emphasis in original.) The trial court's analysis and conclusion were wrong. The fact that Mrs. Cook may be employed at-will is not relevant to her claims that Zions breached her contractual right to take time off work when necessary for illness or needed medical treatment. The central issue before the trial court and on appeal is whether a reasonable jury could find an employment contract for certain compensation, including, in part, the right to request and receive paid sick leave, regardless of whether that contract could be terminated by either party.

A. Significant Facts in the Record Support Mrs. Cook's Claim That She Had a Contract for Compensation Which Included Paid Sick Leave.

The claim that Mrs. Cook had an agreement with Zions to provide services in exchange for compensation was strongly supported by the evidence before the trial court and therefore should have been decided by the finder of fact. The record

demonstrates that Zions offered Mrs. Cook employment which she accepted in consideration for certain compensation and which included the ability and flexibility to take involuntary leaves of absence when needed for medical care. (R. at 251-52; 305; 332-33; 437-39.)

Prior to beginning employment, Zions informed Mrs. Cook that as part of her compensation, she would automatically earn credits for involuntary leaves of absence from work, and would therefore be entitled to a certain number of paid sick days. (R. at 437.) Based on the employment offer made by Zions' representatives, which was memorialized by the Employment Agreement, Mrs. Cook accepted employment. (R. at 438; 441; Addendum "B".) The *flexibility* which involuntary paid sick leave offered was a significant part of Mrs. Cook's compensation package, and was an important inducement to her in accepting Zions' employment offer. (R. at 438-39.)

Since accepting Zions' offer, Mrs. Cook has relied on its agreement to provide paid sick leave, and on several occasions, has used that sick leave. (R. at 251-52; 304-06; 308; 439.) Pay stubs given to Mrs. Cook by Zions regularly documented Zions' policy of providing her earned sick leave which was treated as normal compensation, subject to withholdings, taxes, etc. (R. at 321; 326; 351.)

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