1995

Gina Cook v. Zions First National Bank : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In her opening brief, Cook repeatedly characterizes her claim as one for breach of a "contract for compensation which included paid sick leave." However, Cook does not claim that she failed to receive the appropriate amount of paid leave credit or that she has not been fully compensated for her accrued sick leave. Instead, Cook contends that Zions, by simply providing its employees with paid sick leave,⁵ entered into a binding contract with her giving her the right to request and receive sick leave when needed. Cook claims that the manager of the area in which she works breached this alleged contract by delaying approval for a paid day off for a medical procedure. She alleges, without any

⁵ Other "unpaid" leave is also available to Zions' employees.

factual support, that this delay caused the progression of her medical condition and the loss of any opportunity to prevent that condition. In short, Cook is attempting to transform Zions' "leave credit" policy into a contract requiring Zions to know or foresee how "needed" a medical appointment or procedure is, and to insure the consequences of any delay in scheduling a planned absence.⁶

As the source of her alleged express employment contract, Cook relies on the "potential benefit" of "leave credit" for involuntary absences from work, as described in the 1988 Employment Benefits Disclosure Form. This statement merely advises full-time employees they will be eligible to earn one day of leave credit per month. It does not create any obligation or promise regarding the use of such leave credit. Moreover, the document on which Cook relies expressly states that it "does not constitute enrollment in the benefit programs found in Section II." Even if Cook were able to establish that this document is a binding written employment contract, Zions did not breach it because Zions never accrued Cook's leave credit at any amount less than one day per month and fully paid her for her accrued leave credit.

Cook also provides no authority for her implied-in-fact contract claim. Utah law does not recognize a claim for breach of

⁶ During oral argument, the district court stated as follows regarding Cook's claim: "So, you're saying that whenever an employer says, we're busy in this department; I would rather you didn't take time off for this surgery now. That employer assumes liability for the consequential damages that neither know about, in terms of later discovered tragic medical circumstances. Transcript of Summary Judgment Argument dated April 21, 1995 at 22 (R. at 529).

an implied-in-fact employment contract based on an employer's alleged delay in allowing an employee to take time off pursuant to a paid sick leave policy. Utah courts have never indicated an intention to extend the implied-in-fact employment contract exception to the at-will rule, created in Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033 (Utah 1989), to aspects of the employment relationship beyond termination. Cook's implied contract claim is also defective because the facts she relies on to support the alleged contract, including the "when needed" term she adds to Zions' leave credit policy, are too indefinite to provide a basis for determining its terms, the existence of a breach and resulting damages. Finally, Cook's implied contract claim fails because Zions clearly and conspicuously disclaimed any contractual intent. Zions' 1992 and 1994 handbooks both state that the handbook "supersedes and replaces all other prior employees' reference material" and that neither party has "entered into any contract of employment, express or implied."

Cook has also failed to provide any support for her breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim, which has not been recognized by the Utah Supreme Court in the employment context. In direct contravention of well-established Utah case law, Cook attempts to use the implied covenant of good faith to create a "new and independent right," which was not agreed upon by the parties, to hold Zions' supervisors responsible for

knowing when and how soon employees should use their paid sick leave.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF ZIONS.

As stated by this Court in Schafir v. Harrigan, 879 P.2d 1384 (Utah App. 1994), "'the plain language of Rule 56(c) mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon motion, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.'" Id. at 1391 (quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986)). In such a situation, the non-moving party cannot avoid summary judgment by asserting a disputed issue of material fact "'since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the non-moving party's case renders all other facts immaterial.'" Schafir, 879 P.2d at 1391 (quoting Celotex, 477 U.S. at 323).⁷

To successfully challenge Zion's motion for summary judgment in the present case, Cook must therefore present sufficient evidence in specific factual form that is material to the question of whether she and Zions entered into an express or

⁷ Although Cook characterizes summary judgment as "drastic," the United States Supreme Court in Celotex stated, "Summary judgment procedure is properly regarded not as a disfavored procedural shortcut, but rather as an integral part of the Federal Rules as a whole, which are designed to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action." Celotex, 477 U.S. at 327.

implied employment contract that (1) requires Zions' supervisors to foresee the "need" of a medical appointment or procedures and insure the consequences of any delay in scheduling planned absences; and (2) completely eliminates the issue of whether Cook could have, pursuant to Zions' attendance policy, scheduled the in-hospital surgery and then called her supervisor from the hospital to advise her of the same. Cook failed to meet that burden, and she should not be able to withstand summary judgment on the mere expectation that she will be able to develop the requisite evidence at some later date. See, e.g., Paddington Ptrns. v. Bouchard, 34 F.3d 1132, 1138 (2d Cir. 1994) ("In a summary judgment context, an opposing party's mere hope that further evidence may develop prior to trial is an insufficient basis upon which to justify the denial of a summary judgment motion.") (quoting Gray v. Town of Darien, 927 F.2d 69, 74 (2d Cir. 1992)); Conway v. Smith, 853 F.2d 784, 793 (10th Cir. 1988) ("In response to a motion for summary judgment, a party cannot rely on ignorance of facts, on speculation, or on suspicion, and may not escape summary judgment in the mere hope that something will turn up at trial.").

Cook also cannot avoid summary judgment by relying on factual disputes that are immaterial to the outcome of Zions' motion. As this Court recently stated, "only material issues of fact preclude summary judgment . . . '[T]he mere existence of genuine issues of fact . . . does not preclude the entry of summary judgment if those issues are immaterial to resolution of the

case.'" Burns v. Cannondale Bicycle Co., 876 P.2d 415, 419 (Utah App. 1994) (emphasis in original) (quoting Morgan v. Industrial Design Corp., 657 P.2d 751, 751 (Utah 1982)).

Although there is a factual dispute as to whether Cook verbally requested and was denied time off between February and April of 1994, that issue is not material for several reasons. First, Cook has failed to show that Zions entered into and breached any express or implied employment contract, let alone a contract that holds Zions' supervisors responsible for the unforeseeable effects of any delay in obtaining paid time off.⁸ The extensive evidence cited by Cook regarding the fact that Zions provides paid sick leave to its employees and its reasons for doing so is immaterial to that issue. Cook's claim is not for paid sick leave and, even if it were, there is no evidence that Zions ever failed to properly accrue her leave credit or pay her for a sick leave as accrued.

Second, Cook has not controverted the undisputed evidence submitted by Zions that she could have, pursuant to Zions' attendance guideline, scheduled the surgery and then called her supervisor. Cook's "subjective fear" that she would have been fired is not sufficient to preclude summary judgment. The evidence remains uncontroverted that Cook was specifically told by Joyce

⁸ To establish the existence of such a contract, Cook must show more than her "subjective understandings or expectations." See Rose v. Allied Dev. Co., 719 P.2d 83, 86 (Utah 1986).

Misdom that her supervisor "wouldn't fire you" and that Cook would not have been subject to any discipline, much less termination, if she had taken such a course of action. Material Facts ¶¶ 22, 23.

In sum, the district court's decision granting summary judgment in favor of Zions should be affirmed because Cook has failed to come forward with sufficient facts showing essential elements of her case, and because the alleged factual disputes she relies on are immaterial to any issue raised by Zions' motion.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT COOK HAS NO EXPRESS EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WITH ZIONS.

A. Cook Failed to Establish the Elements of an Express Employment Contract.

The district court dismissed Cook's breach of express employment contract claim "because there is no employment contract between the parties." Memorandum Decision at 5 (R. at 478). Cook contends that the district court erred because the "Potential Benefit" of "leave credit" for involuntary absences from work, as described in the 1988 Employment Benefits Disclosure Form, creates an express employment contract between her and Zions that gave her the right "to request and receive earned sick leave when needed." Appellant's Opening Brief at 17, 24, 27 (emphasis added). In other words, Cook claims that Zions, by distributing the Employment Benefits Disclosure Form describing how employees earn paid sick leave, intended to obligate its supervisors to foresee how "needed" a medical appointment or procedure is and to insure the consequences of any delay in scheduling planned absences.

The 1988 Employment Benefits Disclosure Form cannot reasonably be construed to be an employment agreement. The first section of the document, entitled "Salary Administration," lists the employee's rate and method of pay. The section on the bottom of the form, entitled "List of Potential Benefits," merely describes 21 **Potential Benefits**, ranging from reduced rates on a Mastercard to movie tickets. Material Facts ¶ 4. Cook's breach of express employment contract claim is based entirely on the "List of Potential Benefits" section of the document. Cook does not claim that Zions violated the "Salary Administration" section, which is obviously the "Pay Agreement" portion of the document.

Zions certainly did not express the intent to contractually obligate itself, for an unlimited period of time, to provide each and every one of the 21 "Potential Benefits" described in the Employment Benefits Disclosure Form. Immediately above Cook's signature, the document clearly and conspicuously states that it **"does NOT constitute enrollment in the benefit programs found in Section II,"** the very place to which Cook points to bind Zions to an employment agreement. Material Facts ¶ 5 (emphasis added).⁹

⁹ If Cook's express contract theory is accepted, all employees who received this form, regardless of their enrollment in the benefit programs, would have a claim for breach of contract if Zions ever failed to provide them with such items as service charge exemptions, free safety deposit boxes, reduced rates on credit cards and loans, discount rates on special attractions, discounted movie tickets, educational assistance programs, savings plans, and automatic paycheck deposits in checking accounts. See Material Facts ¶ 4.

Furthermore, the plain language of the statement that Cook relies on provides noting more than the right to earn one day of leave credit per month:

Involuntary Absence from Work (leave credit 90-day waiting period) -- 1-day per month for full-time employees; 1-day (8 hours) for two months for those working at least 20 hours per week.

Material Facts ¶ 4. The only "promise," if any, that could reasonably be derived from this statement is that, after a 90-day waiting period, Cook would be eligible to accrue leave credit at the rate of "one day per month." It does not tie the element of being paid for involuntary absences to any other obligation on the part of Zions, especially an obligation by Zions' supervisors to make a medically optimal decision on scheduling an employee's medical appointments and treatment. Cook asks this Court to rewrite Zions' leave credit policy to include a "when needed" contract term and then to define it in her favor. See Robertson v. Utah Fuel Co., 889 P.2d 1382, 1385-86 (Utah App. 1995) (substance abuse policy in employee handbook stating that employees who voluntarily come forward for treatment would be offered rehabilitation assistance did not create "contract term that [plaintiff] would not be demoted, terminated, or otherwise disciplined for voluntarily coming forward to seek treatment for his substance abuse problem.").

In sum, because Cook has failed to carry her burden of establishing that the "Potential Benefit" of "leave credit" for

involuntary absences from work meets the elements of an express contract, the district court's dismissal of her breach of express employment contract claim should be affirmed.

B. Even if Cook Were Able to Establish that the Employment Benefits Disclosure Form is a Binding Written Employment Contract, Zions did not Breach the Alleged Contract.

If for some reason the Employment Benefits Disclosure Form were deemed to be an express employment contract, then the provisions of that document alone would govern Cook's rights with respect to leave credit for involuntary absences. As stated by the Utah Supreme Court, "[a]n express agreement or covenant relating to a specific contract right excludes the possibility of an implied covenant of a different or contradictory nature." Rio Algom Corp. v. Jimco Ltd., 618 P.2d 497, 505 (Utah 1980); see also Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, 1044 (Utah 1989) ("[a]n implied-in-fact promise cannot, of course, contradict a written contract term."); Barber v. SMH(US), Inc., 202 Mich. App. 366, 509 N.W.2d 791, 796 (1994) ("a contract will be implied only if there is no express contract covering the same subject matter.").

The statement on the Employment Benefits Disclosure Form regarding "leave credit" for involuntary absences from work simply describes how employees may accrue such leave credit -- one day per month after a 90-day waiting period. Thus, assuming the existence of an express contract based on this statement, there would be no breach by Zions because, as Cook does not dispute, Zions never accrued her leave credit at any amount less than one day per month.

In addition, if, as Cook urges, the Employment Benefits Disclosure Form expressly provided that she had the right to request and receive sick leave "when needed," Cook could have taken the time off without Zions' approval and there would be no breach until she did so and Zions failed to pay her.¹⁰

In sum, assuming the Employment Benefits Disclosure Form is an express employment contract, it alone is controlling and Zions did not breach the alleged contract. Accordingly, the district court's decision dismissing Cook's breach of express employment contract claim should be affirmed.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT COOK'S IMPLIED-IN-FACT EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT THEORY IS NOT RECOGNIZED UNDER UTAH LAW.

Cook's implied-in-fact employment contract theory is a novel one. Cook has not been terminated and is not claiming that Zions breached an implied-in-fact contract that she could only be terminated for cause. Nor does she claim that Zions breached an implied agreement to pay her accumulated sick leave. Instead, Cook argues that Zions, by providing paid sick leave to its employees, entered into an implied-in-fact employment contract with her that obligated Zions' supervisors and managers to predict how "needed"

¹⁰ As the district court stated during oral argument, "The breach comes when they refuse to pay her, because they've said she couldn't be paid. . . [H]ow is there a breach of this provision until they say we refuse to pay you? You've taken the time, now we refuse to pay you for that time." Transcript of Summary Judgment Hearing dated April 21, 1995 at 10 (R. at 517).

a medical appointment or procedure is and to insure the consequences of any delay in scheduling planned paid absences.

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